PATTERNS OF USE AND ATTITUDES TOWARDS STATISTICS IN PSYCHOLOGICAL PROFESSION: A CROSS SECTIONAL STUDY

Vuco, Nika

Undergraduate thesis / Završni rad

2024

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: University of Split, Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences / Sveučilište u Splitu, Filozofski fakultet

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:172:102734

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2025-02-02

Repository / Repozitorij:

Repository of Faculty of humanities and social sciences





University of Split Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences in Split Department of Psychology

Nika Vuco

Patterns of Use and Attitudes Towards Statistics in Psychological Profession: A Cross-Sectional Study

Final Thesis

Split, 2024.

University of Split Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences in Split Department of Psychology

Nika Vuco

Patterns of Use and Attitudes Towards Statistics in Psychological Profession: A Cross-Sectional Study

Final Thesis

Assist. Prof. Ivan Buljan, PhD

Split, July 2024.

Table of Contents

. Introduction1
1.1. Objectives
1.1.1. Research Aims
1.1.2. Hypotheses
2. Methods7
2.1. Instrument Description7
2.2. Data Collection Methods
2.3. Sample Characteristics
2.4. Ethical Considerations11
2.5. Data Analysis
Results14
3.1. Descriptive Statistics
3.2. Percentage of Use Prediction
Discussion
5. Conclusion
5. Abstract
7. References
Supplement

1. Introduction

Modern statistics has been a part of experimental psychology since the late 1800s, even though it was not yet incorporated into psychological education. Statistical methods took place in the field decades before its incorporation into, for example, economics and sociology (Stigler, 1992). These methods allowed psychology to transition from a philosophical discipline into a scientific and empirical field. Today, statistics plays an important role in psychological research, guiding the formulation of hypotheses, data analysis, and interpretation of findings. Apart from research, diagnostic tools and tests could not be designed or interpreted without adequate statistical skills. Statistics education serves the ultimate goal of producing statistically literate individuals who possess the ability to effectively apply statistical thinking (Ramirez et al., 2012). This is particularly important in psychology, where analyzing and interpreting data is essential to research and evidence-based practice.

Therefore, statistical courses have been one of the fundamental courses in psychology programs. On the other hand, students frequently consider it one of the most difficult and unwanted subjects in psychological education (Green et al., 2015). In the study done by Green et al. (2015), the authors stated that statistics might be an unwanted subject among psychology students due to the classification of psychology as a "soft" discipline. In that view, the term "soft" discipline refers to academic fields that are perceived to rely more on subjective interpretations and less rigorous scientific methods. This perception of the field later leads students to be resistant when they enroll and notice the emphasis placed on scientific methodology and statistics in instruction (Freng et al., 2011). Furthermore, studies have shown that students' interests are most commonly in non-research courses, such as human-interest courses like psychopathology and personality psychology, and far less in research-oriented courses like research methods and statistics (Hixenbaugh et al., 2006; Lloyd-Lewis et al., 2023). Literature also suggests that, in general, statistics is not a popular topic of interest to psychology majors (Rajecki et al., 2005). Lloyd-Lewis et al. (2023) have found that students' poor interest in methodology courses could be due to their perception of research subjects being too difficult, requiring skills they do not possess, and lacking relevance to their future studies and careers. From these findings, it may be concluded that students do not consider statistics as directly practically applicable in the everyday work of a psychologist. Even though statistics has been integrated into psychological education since the 1940s (Nuttgens, 2023), the use of and attitudes about statistics in practicing psychologists have not been widely researched.

The current state of statistical education in undergraduate psychology

Statistics modules are among the most problematic for psychology students due to superficial teaching, lack of linking theory with practice, unfamiliarity with concepts, constituting an integrated picture of the parts of scientific research, and their negative attitudes toward quantitative methods courses (Murtonen et al., 2008). Furthermore, the TARG Meta-Research group (2022) conducted a study examining multiple statistics module syllabi among undergraduate psychology programs in the United Kingdom. Most module hours were allocated to workshops, labs, or practicals. Considering the software types used, they have found that most psychology programs focus on conventional software use, such as SPPS, rather than open-source software like R. This study also found that, when it comes to statistics education, psychology programs focus mostly on inferential statistical tests and not on a deeper understanding of data and data skills. Many did not mention key statistical power, effect size, confidence intervals, and reproducibility.

In Croatia, psychology programs incorporate a wide range of statistics and methodology courses, taking about one-third of all ECTS points of undergraduate mandatory courses. Different studies seem to suggest that appropriate changes do not follow the rapid advancement in technology in teaching practices, although computer-assisted technology in teaching statistics to undergraduate psychology students may be beneficial for their understanding of the relevant concepts (Lloyd & Robertson, 2011). Apart from advances in teaching related courses, instructors should emphasize the importance of research in all areas of psychology (Robertson et al., 2011; Ruggeri et al., 2008), particularly areas of high interest perceived by psychology students (Lloyd-Lewis et al., 2023).

Attitudes toward statistics in psychology

Despite the importance of statistics in psychology, there is variability in the valence of attitudes toward statistics, and how individuals engage with statistical techniques. A study by Dempster and McCorry (2009) found that psychology students' approaches to statistics are associated with factors such as educational background, professional experience, and individual characteristics. More specifically, these factors were correlated with their statistical performance and engagement, indicating that positive attitudes towards statistics, shaped by prior experiences and personal traits, are associated with better outcomes in statistics courses. Research on student attitudes toward statistics has been a topic of interest for numerous studies in psychology and most have shown that students have negative perceptions of the course

(Conners et al., 1998; Hogg, 1991; Ruggeri et al., 2008; Schutz et al., 1998). These negative perceptions of students are reflected in poor interest in the course, and overall not enjoying the course itself (Judi et al., 2011). On the other hand, Coetzee and Van der Merwe's (2010) study found that although students viewed statistics as technical and difficult, they recognized its value and expressed interest in the subject. Moreover, Eccles and Wigfield (2002) found that the value placed on an educational task significantly predicted students' engagement and performance in that task. Overall, a positive attitude ensures the application of learned knowledge and encourages the pursuit of further learning opportunities.

The perceived usefulness and relevance of statistics have been linked to students' engagement and performance in statistics courses, suggesting that attitudes toward statistics are associated with the learning and application of statistical methods (Ramirez et al., 2012). Consequently, apart from the obtained knowledge, attitudes are considered one of the most important outcomes of introductory statistics courses. These findings suggest that attitudes toward statistics might predict the use of statistics. However, since most previous studies on the topic were conducted on students (Counsell & Cribbie, 2020; Dempster & McCorry, 2009; Judi et al., 2011; Landa-Blanco & Cortés-Ramos, 2021; Ramirez et al., 2012), expanding the view on practicing psychologists could help understand how these attitudes are linked to their everyday job requirements involving statistics. Understanding how attitudes are linked with the use of statistics in psychologists' work could further aid the development of psychology programs' statistical education that is more in line with psychological practice. Moreover, exploring attitudes towards statistics of practicing psychologists could inform the development of effective training programs aimed at increasing statistical literacy among psychologists, ultimately improving the quality and accuracy of research and other aspects of statistical utility in the field.

Recommendations for the improvement of statistical education

Understanding the use of and attitudes toward statistics in psychology could create a different perspective on statistics within psychological education. This could encourage the development of possible changes to the curriculum, aiming to make it more suitable for the needs of the profession. Various studies report a need to improve statistical education in the psychological profession, suggesting a need for reform (Anglin & Edlund, 2019; Badenes-Ribera et al., 2016, 2018). Badenes-Ribera et al. (2016) suggest that reform is needed in terms of evidence-based practice, advocating for the practical application of statistical knowledge, which implies a better interpretation of the results. These might be achieved by introducing

students to novel ways of computing statistical analyses, as well as the practical application of the obtained knowledge (Counsell et al., 2016). There is no doubt whether statistics is important in the field itself, but how it is taught and the concepts that are learned in the courses may need a change to better aid future usage in the profession itself (Thibault et al., 2024). For example, a study conducted by Thibault et al. (2024) found a consensus among professionals regarding their recommendations for the improvement of statistical education. They agreed that students should learn to understand data, formulate a research design, calculate descriptive and inferential statistics, and gain the knowledge needed for critical assessment of research data and methodologies. Incorporation of the practical application of learned materials could naturally enhance these skills, as students would gain hands-on experience in real-world scenarios, reinforcing theoretical knowledge and developing their competence in applying these skills effectively (Fantinelli et al., 2024; Hutter et al., 2016). However, there was no consensus regarding the importance of learning advanced research techniques, computer skills, or module format. That is, psychologists do not believe that psychology programs should emphasize teaching advanced research techniques, and computer skills or that the format of the course learned is an important aspect of students' education (Thibault et al., 2024).

Currently, many psychology courses rely on calculation exercises to transfer statistical skills to students. It has been noted that this might be a suboptimal form of teaching. For example, studies have shown that shifting instructional focus away from hand calculations towards using software like R could significantly improve students' statistical reasoning and comprehension (Ditta & Woodward, 2022; Pirlot & Hines, 2023). Considering the application of software as a part of statistical education, researchers have pointed out that it would be beneficial to use open-source software, such as R or JASP, for students to gain adequate statistical knowledge needed for the understanding and interpretation of statistics (Counsell & Cribbie, 2020; TARG Meta-Research Group, 2022). Open-source software offers several advantages over conventional software, including free access, continuous updates and improvements, as well as flexibility and customizability that allow students to tailor their learning to specific needs, enhancing their practical skills and adaptability in real-world applications (Duan & Lee, 2022). Furthermore, a study by Counsell and Cribbie (2020) found that while introductory-level students had neutral attitudes, students at higher levels had somewhat positive attitudes toward both R and statistics. The authors suggest that R is suitable for undergraduate psychology students, offering benefits such as free access, flexibility, a wide range of statistical analyses, and enhanced data analysis skills, whereas challenges include a steep learning curve, initial complexity, and the need for instructors to be proficient in R to provide adequate support. This study also highlights the importance of instructors in shaping students' attitudes toward the subject, encouraging instructors to focus on making the learning experience more engaging and accessible and providing adequate support and resources. Also, considering the technological advancement and rapid development of various software packages, it has been noted that statistics instructors should be aware of the downsides in teaching how to use sophisticated software packages, making students spend more time learning how to use them rather than applying the learned material (Chance et al., 2007).

The rationale for this study

A need for reform in statistical education within psychology reflects a growing recognition of the importance of statistics in the field. This emphasizes the need for a curriculum that equips future professionals with adequate job-related skills. While most of the studies that investigated attitudes toward statistics have focused on the attitudes of students (Counsell & Cribbie, 2020; Dempster & McCorry, 2009; Judi et al., 2011; Landa-Blanco & Cortés-Ramos, 2021; Ramirez et al., 2012), there is a gap in the exploration of attitudes and patterns of use among graduated practicing psychologists. Additionally, there has been no such study among graduated psychologists in Croatia. Gaining a deeper understanding of patterns of use and attitudes towards statistical analyses' utility, relevance, and challenges. Obtaining direct feedback from the professionals who work in psychology could further aid the understanding of statistical procedures and tools needed to develop adequate skills in the field itself.

Overall, this study aims to provide a deeper understanding of the role of statistics in everyday psychological practice. It focuses on identifying professionals' recommendations for improving statistical education in psychology programs. Additionally, it seeks to examine which components of attitudes toward statistics predict its use in professional work. The insights gained from this research can be used to advance evidence-based practices within psychological education. Furthermore, the findings could offer directions for improvements in psychologists' statistical competence and education by identifying trends and barriers in statistical use, thus bridging the gap between education and everyday practice.

1.1. Objectives

1.1.1. Research Aims

RA1: To examine if the components of attitudes towards statistics predict the use of statistics in psychologists' work.

RA2: To investigate psychologists' suggestions for improving statistical education within psychology programs.

1.1.2. Hypotheses

H1: Practicing psychologists' use of statistics in their work will be predicted by their attitudes toward statistics. More specifically, a higher percentage of use will be predicted by higher affect scores, greater perceived cognitive competence, greater perceived value, lower perceived difficulty, higher interest, and higher effort invested into statistics.

H2: The most prevalent recommendations for improving statistical education in psychology among practicing psychologists will be to implement practical applications and user-friendly software.

2. Methods

Study Design

This was a cross-sectional study (<u>https://osf.io/bh36x</u>). A survey approach was utilized and conducted in January, February, and March of 2024.

2.1. Instrument Description

The survey tool contained a total of 60 questions separated into 4 sections. Along with demographic variables, use and knowledge of statistics, and questions used to measure recommendations and study experience, we used a modified version of Survey of Attitudes Toward Statistics (SATS-36) (Schau, 2003) to measure participants' attitudes towards statistics. To utilize the SATS-36 scale in our study, we contacted the author and obtained her consent. The survey was distributed in Croatian and later back-translated into English.

Demographic Characteristics

Demographic characteristics measured were: Sex (Sex:), Age (Age in years), Doctorate (Do you have a completed Ph.D.?), Place of study (Did you obtain your degree in Croatia or abroad?), University (If you obtained your degree in Croatia, please select the institution where you completed your graduate studies in psychology.), Country (If you finished your study abroad, please state the country.), Field of work (In which field of psychology do you primarily work?), Years from graduation (How many years have passed since you finished your studies?), Years of work (How many years have you been working in psychology?).

Use and Knowledge of Statistics

Participant's use of statistics was measured by asking them several questions regarding the use of statistics in their work. The measured variables were; Categories of use of statistics (*Can you list all the activities in your professional work for which you use statistics?*), Percentage of use of statistics (*For the activities you mentioned previously, in what percentage* of your working time do you do that?), Statistical package usage (*Do you know how to use any* statistical packages?), Statistical packages used (*When you do statistical analyses, which* packages do you use?), Confidence in statistics application (*If you were to conduct statistical* analysis, how confident are you that you could do it correctly?), Published research paper (*Have you ever published a research paper?*), Statistics GPA (*What was your average grade in introductory statistics courses?*).

Recommendations and Study Experience

Participants' recommendations for the improvement of statistics education and their study experience were measured with the following variables; Content of statistics education (*Rate the following questions about your study experience based on the frequency of each using percentages (0-100%); how much time was dedicated to: computer use, hand calculations, and theory.*), Recommendations for improvement of statistical education (*Select what would, in your opinion, help today's students in learning statistics.*), The most important part of statistics education.).

Attitudes toward Statistics

The participants' attitudes toward statistics were measured using the Survey of Attitudes Towards Statistics (SATS-36) (Schau, 2003). The scale consists of 36 items scored on a Likert scale from 1 to 7 (e.g., 1= strongly disagree to 7 = strongly agree). According to the directions of the instrument, the answers to negatively worded items were reversed (1 was replaced by 7, 2 by 6, etc.). The order of items on the scale was randomized to avoid response bias. The SATS-36 measures 6 components of attitudes towards statistics; Affect - participants' feelings concerning statistics (6 items); higher scores indicating more positive feelings concerning statistics, Cognitive competence - participants' attitudes about their intellectual knowledge and skills when applied to statistics (6 items); higher scores indicating greater perceived intellectual skills when applied to statistics, Value - participants' attitudes about the usefulness, relevance, and worth of statistics in personal and professional life (9 items); higher scores indicating greater perceived value of statistics, *Difficulty* – participant's attitudes about the difficulty of statistics as a subject (7 items); higher scores indicating a lower perceived difficulty of statistics, *Interest* – participants' level of individual interest in statistics (4 items); higher scores indicating higher level of interest in statistics, and *Effort* - the amount of work the participant expends to learn statistics (4 items); higher scores indicating a greater amount of work invested to learn statistics. Items of each subscale can be found in the Supplement table (Table A). The total scores for each subscale were calculated after reverse coding negatively worded items and summing the scores of items within every individual subscale.

Scale Reliability

Table 1 shows descriptions, number of items (in brackets), and Cronbach alpha coefficients for subscales of the SATS-36 questionnaire for data collected in this study.

Table 1

Subscale	Description	Cronbach alpha [95%CI]
Affect	Participants' feelings concerning statistics (6 items)	.87 [.85, .88]
Cognitive competence	Participants' attitudes about their intellectual knowledge and skills when applied to statistics (6 items)	.80 [.78, .83]
Value	Participants' attitudes about statistics' usefulness, relevance, and worth in personal and professional life (9 items)	.80 [.77, .82]
Difficulty	Participants' attitudes about the difficulty of statistics as a subject (7 items)	.66 [.60, .69]
Interest	Participants' level of individual interest in statistics (4 items)	.85 [.83, .87]
Effort	Amount of work the participant expends to learn statistics (4 items)	.72 [.68, .76]

Reliability of the SATS-36 Subscales

2.2. Data Collection Methods

Piloting and Refinement

To refine the survey, we used a sample of psychology students (n=5) and academic psychologists (n=3) to review the questions' comprehensibility and to give us feedback about the survey characteristics.

Data Collection

The data collection method was a combination of purposeful and snowball sampling techniques. The first data collection phase lasted from the last week of January to the middle of February. We collected email addresses of Croatian psychological societies and associations. The sample comprised every county's psychological society in Croatia, as well as other psychological associations. An invitation email was sent a week before the email containing the survey link, followed by a reminder a week later. Out of 53 email addresses, 45 were successfully delivered. The remaining 8 emails could not be delivered due to the recipient's full inbox or address not being found. The link to the survey was also posted on two Facebook groups with Croatian psychologists and a Croatian website with psychology-related content.

The second data collection phase lasted from the last week of February to the second week of March. We went through the directory of licensed psychologists in Croatia and collected individual email addresses that were publicly available via Google search. The named population received one email containing the link to the survey. Out of the 2013 email addresses that were collected, 1893 were successfully delivered. The remaining 120 emails were not delivered due to full inboxes or inactive email accounts. For this phase, the survey was sent without invitations or reminders.

Survey Administration

The questionnaire was made and carried out through the SurveyMonkey software (SurveyMonkey Inc., San Mateo, California, USA, see www.surveymonkey.com). The survey was sent via email. The total number of email addresses to which this survey was successfully delivered was 1938 (out of 2066). Additionally, this survey was posted on two Facebook groups comprised of Croatian psychologists and a Croatian website with psychology-related content.

2.3. Sample Characteristics

The participants in this study were licensed psychologists in Croatia, members of the Croatian Psychological Chamber, who currently work in any field of psychology. Our targeted population consisted of 3733 licensed psychologists in Croatia (https://www.psiholoska-komora.hr/imenik.php), members of the Croatian Psychological Chamber. Participants were excluded from the study if they did not give consent for participation, stopped completing the questionnaire after giving the initial consent, or did not (currently) work in psychology.

Sample Description

We collected a sample of 602 participants out of which 406 completed the whole survey. Out of the initial 602 participants, 17 were excluded from the final analysis, 2 because they did not give consent for the research, 2 because they stated that they did not work in psychology, and 13 because they exited the survey without answering any questions. After the exclusion, we analyzed all data obtained, and the sample sizes could differ between different analyses. A flowchart of the participants in the study can be found in the Supplement (Figure A).

Demographic Characteristics

Participants were predominantly female, did not have a doctorate, and, concerning their place of study, finished their master's degree in Croatia (Table 2). Of those who finished their degree in Croatia, the majority did so at the Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences in Zagreb, and of those who finished their degree outside Croatia, most of them did so in Italy and Bosnia and Herzegovina (Table 2). Concerning their field of work, most of our participants were school psychologists, followed by clinical and health psychologists (Table 2).

Variable Category	n (%)	Median	IQR
Sex			
Female	540 (92.3)		
Male	43 (7.4)		
I prefer not to say	2 (0.3)		
Doctorate			
No	481 (82.2)		
Yes	62 (10.6)		
In process	42 (7.2)		
Place of Study			
In Croatia	553 (94.5)		
Outside Croatia	32 (5.5)		
University ^a			
Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences in Zagreb	240 (41.0)		
Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences in Rijeka	107 (18.3)		
Faculty of Croatian Studies	74 (12.6)		
Department of Psychology in Zadar	62 (10.6)		
Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences in Osijek	45 (7.7)		
Catholic University of Croatia	23 (3.9)		
Country ^b			
Italy	7 (1.2)		
Bosnia and Herzegovina	7 (1.2)		
Slovenia	6 (1.0)		
Serbia	6 (1.0)		
Other	5 (0.9)		
Field of Work ^c			
School Psychology	133 (22.7)		
Clinical and Health Psychology	111 (19.0)		
Social Care	57 (9.7)		
System of Science and Higher Education	54 (9.2)		
Preschool Psychology	41 (7.0)		
Work and Organizational Psychology	33 (5.6)		
Occupational Health Psychology	21 (3.6)		
Penological Psychology	15 (2.6)		
Psychology in Professional Guidance	11 (1.9)		
Military Psychology	8 (1.4)		
Other	23 (3.9)		
Age	- ()	38	32-48
Years from Graduation ^c		13	8-24
Years of Work ^c		13	7-23

Demographic Characteristics of all Participants (Total N= 585)

Note: ^a Missing 2 answers; ^b Missing 1 answer; ^c Missing 78 answers.

2.4. Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by the Ethical Committee Board of the Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences in Split (Ethical approval number: 2181-190-24-00006, Ethical approval date: January 8, 2024.).

The confidentiality of this study was ensured by taking only information relevant to the study from the participants (doctorate, field of work, age, sex), which was necessary for the analysis of the data and the research results. We did not collect participants' IP addresses.

Additionally, we notified psychological societies and associations that they would be receiving an email with the link for participation in the research. Emails were sent only to the publicly available email addresses. Lastly, on the first page of the survey, we asked for the participants' informed consent. Participants' personal information was not shared in the research; only the researchers were aware of details such as their names and email addresses.

2.5. Data Analysis

The statistical analysis was done with R statistical software (Version 2021.9.0.351; R Core Team, 2021) and JASP (Version 0.18.3; JASP Team, 2024).

Description of Data

Categorical variables were presented as frequencies and percentages. Numerical variables were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test for normality. Due to the significant deviation from normality (p<0.05) variables were presented as medians (*Mdn*) with interquartile range (*IQR*) for the overall sample or as medians with 95% confidence intervals (*CIs*) for subgroups. Descriptive statistics were calculated in JASP, apart from the median 95% confidence intervals which were done in R. Additionally, following the instructions of the instrument used, the scores on items of each subscale of the SATS-36 were calculated using means with 95% confidence intervals and can be found in the Supplement (Table A).

Percentage of Use Prediction

Multiple linear regression analysis was used to assess whether components of attitudes toward statistics predicted the use of statistics in our sample. The model was established using the entry method, with all predictors entered into the model simultaneously.

We conducted several diagnostic tests, including the analysis of standard residuals, collinearity, independent errors, normality of the error distribution, homoscedasticity, linearity, and non-zero variance. We found that most of the assumptions of multiple linear regression were met. One exception was the normality of the residuals, which were handled by removing outliers from the sample. Furthermore, before conducting the regression analysis, we did a correlation analysis to identify and understand the relationship between variables and assess the direction and strength of these relationships. We used the Shapiro-Wilks test for univariate normality to determine which correlation coefficients to use.

The regression analysis was performed in JASP and R software. We used multiple linear regression to assess whether SATS-36 components of attitudes toward statistics predicted the participants' use of statistics in their work. Results were expressed as unstandardized (*b*) and

standardized regression coefficients (β) with 95% confidence intervals, along the standard errors of the estimates (*SE*), t-values (*t*), p-values (*p*), coefficients of determination (R^2), and F-statistics (*F*). We calculated the 95% confidence intervals for β using the following equation: 95%CI= $\beta \pm 1.96 \cdot (\beta/t)$. All analyses were conducted with a significance threshold of *p* < 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Descriptive Statistics

Use and Knowledge of Statistics

Participants' answers on the categories of use of statistics were coded and categorized. Two evaluators independently coded answers for the first 20 respondents, based on which the rest of the data was coded. Answers could be coded under one or more of the following categories:

- 1) *Research/Scientific Papers* using statistics solely for conference attendance and publications, as well as research in the scope of their work;
- 2) *Data Processing* using statistics to sort and process the data needed in their work, such as creating tables and sorting the information of their clients;
- Questionnaire/Survey Analysis- using statistics to create questionnaires for their work and analyze the data obtained in the surveys. This differs from the first category because these refer to the use of statistics to analyze the obtained data for non-formal purposes;
- 4) *Tests/Diagnostics* using statistics to read and form the data from the clients to compare their results to the general mean of a given condition (mostly in clinical psychology);
- 5) *Reports-* using statistics to form a report of work to competent authorities, creating general information and work standards;
- Evaluations- using statistics to compare the contents/results of work and events to previous data, to form general conclusions about a program or an institution;
- Education/Teaching- using statistics on an academic level; to pass on statistical knowledge to students;
- Admissions/Selection- using statistics to generate new employees or to enroll children in schools; testing candidate's competencies or children's capabilities;
- 9) Does not Use- participants' answers were put in this category if they specifically stated that they do not use statistics in their work or if they marked the question with a sign (e.g. 0 or /).

The frequencies of each coded response are shown in Figure 1. Most participants in our study stated that they use statistics for *Research/Scientific Papers* and *Data Processing*. Along with these two categories, many participants stated that they use statistics for *Questionnaire/Survey Analysis* and that they do not use statistics in their work (*Does not Use*). The lowest number of participants stated that they use statistics for *Education/Teaching* and *Admission/Selection*.

Figure 1



Self-Reported Statistics Use Categories from Open-Ended Responses (Total N=507)

Note: Participants' answers could have been coded under one or more categories.

Most of the participants reported that they know how to use some statistical packages, and out of those most of them stated that they use *SPSS* and *Excel* when doing statistical analyses (Table 3). The least number of respondents selected *STATA*, *Phyton*, and *Lisrel* as packages that they use (Table 3). Furthermore, most participants stated that they published a research paper, and the majority selected that they did the statistics for their research by themselves (Table 3). Additionally, participants were asked to state in percentages how confident are they that they would do a statistical analysis correctly (Table 3). Participants' average GPA in introductory statistics courses and percentage of use of statistics in their working time are shown in Table 3.

Variable	Category	n (%)	Median	IQR
Statistical packages usage ^a		· · · ·		
	Yes	413 (81.5)		
	No	94 (18.5)		
Statistical packages used ^b				
	SPSS	334 (81.8)		
	Excel	266 (65.2)		
	Statistica	69 (16.9)		
	R	35 (8.6)		
	JASP	23 (5.6)		
	Jamovi	23 (5.6)		
	Amos	18 (4.4)		
	Mplus	14 (3.4)		
	PSPP	8 (1.9)		
	STATA	4 (0.9)		
	Python	4 (0.9)		
	Lisrel	3 (0.7)		
	Other	13 (3.2)		
Published research paper ^c				
	Yes	305 (60.9)		
	No	196 (39.1)		
Statistics done for the research				
	Yes	235 (77.0)		
	No	70 (23.0)		
Percentage of use of statistics ^d			10	5-25
Confidence in statistics application ^d			60	30-80
Statistics GPA ^e			4	3-4

Participants' Statistics Use Information (Total N=507)

Table 3

Note: ^{*a*} *Missing 5 answers;* ^{*b*} *Participants could select multiple answers;* ^{*c*} *Missing 6 answers;* ^{*d*} *Answers in percentages (0-100%);* ^{*e*} *Missing 78 answers, (2.0-5.0 scale).*

Recommendations and Study Experience

The frequencies of each response are shown in Figure 2. Most participants suggested that *Practical application* and *User-friendly software* would help today's students in learning statistics. The least number of respondents selected *Flipped classrooms* and *Mandatory weekly tests* as something that would help students in learning statistics.

Additionally, participants were asked to select which part of statistical education they think is the most important. Most participants stated that *Practical application* is the most important (n=206), followed by that *All parts are equally important* (n=199), fewer that *Theory* is the most important (n=17), and the least number of participants stated that *Calculation exercises* were the most important part of statistical education (n=3). Lastly, participants were

asked to rate on a scale (from 1 to 100%) how much time was dedicated to which part of statistical education in their study. Considering the average of all responses, most of the time was dedicated to *Theory*, followed by *Hand calculations*, and the least amount of time was dedicated to *Computer use* (Table 4).

Figure 2

Frequencies of Recommendations for the Improvement of Statistics Education (Total N=425)



Note: Participants could select multiple answers.

Table 4

Percentage of time Dedicated to Paris of Statistical Education (10tal N=425)Part of educationIQRTheory4030-50Hand calculations332010-40

Percentage of Time Dedicated to Parts of Statistical Education (Total N=425)

Attitudes toward Statistics

The SATS-36 questionnaire was comprised of 36 items forming 6 subscales. Means and CIs for each item and subscale can be found in the supplement (Table A). Participants' median scores were the highest for the *Effort* and *Cognitive competence* components of attitudes, and lowest for *Difficulty* and *Affect* components (Figure 3).

Figure 3



Medians and 95% CIs of Scores on SATS-36 Subscales (Total N= 406)

3.2. Percentage of Use Prediction

Assumption Checks

We first wanted to check whether we have the conditions to perform a regression analysis. To assess the strength of the difference between observed and expected values we carried out an analysis of standard residuals. This was done with the assumption that an absolute value of standard residuals greater than 2 was an outlier. The analysis has shown that a total of 18 participants had outlier residuals, so we have removed them from further analysis.

Additionally, to test for multicollinearity we examined the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) and tolerance values. Our analysis indicated that multicollinearity was not a concern, considering tolerance and VIF (Affect, *Tolerance*=.38, *VIF* = 2.62; Cognitive competence, *Tolerance*=.41, *VIF* = 2.42; Value, *Tolerance*=.52, *VIF*=1.94; Difficulty, *Tolerance*=.71, *VIF*=1.42; Interest, *Tolerance*=.48, *VIF*=2.10; Effort, *Tolerance*=.85, *VIF*=1.18) values were within the recommended values, with VIF being below 5 and tolerance above 0.1 (Kleinbaum et al., 1988).

Furthermore, we tested the assumption of independent errors using the Durbin-Watson (DW) test, with the acceptable range being from 1.5 to 2.5 (Durbin & Watson, 1950). The DW value indicates if the errors are independent of each other, indicating the randomness of the sample. Our data met the assumption of independent errors (DW value = 2.05).

Lastly, the histogram of standardized residuals indicated that the data contained approximately normally distributed errors, as did the normal Q-Q plot of standardized residuals, which showed approximately normal points. The Q-Q plot can be found in the supplement (Figure B). Additionally, the scatterplot of standardized residuals showed that the data met the assumptions of homogeneity of variance and linearity. The data also met the assumption of non-zero variances, indicating that there is some degree of variability in the data points for each variable (Affect, *Variance* = 1.93; Cognitive competence, *Variance* = .87; Difficulty, *Variance* = .70; Interest, *Variance* = 2.02; Effort, *Variance* = .83; Percentage of Use, *Variance* = 248.38).

Correlation Analysis

Before conducting a multiple linear regression analysis, we calculated bivarieate correlations to identify and understand the relationship between variables and assess the direction and strength of these relationships. Firstly, we checked for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test for each variable entered into the analysis, which has shown that *Affect* (W=0.986, p<0.01), *Cognitive competence* (W=0.955, p<0.01), *Value* (W=0.979, p<0.01), *Interest* (W=0.973, p<0.01), *Effort* (W=0.929, p<0.01) and the *Percentage of use* (W=0.836, p<0.01) variables were not normally distributed, whereas *Difficulty* (W=0.995, p=0.27) was normally distributed. Because of this, we used Spearman's rho coefficients for the correlation assessment. Table 5 shows the correlation coefficients between the variables.

Table 5

Spearman's Correlations between 6 Attitude Components and the Percentage of Use

Variable	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.
1. Percentage of use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
2. Affect	0.18**	-	-	-	-	-	-
3. Cognitive competence	0.20**	0.73**	-	-	-	-	-
4. Value	0.45**	0.45**	0.46**	-	-	-	-
5. Difficulty	0.11*	0.42**	0.35**	0.19**	-	-	-
6. Interest	0.35**	0.49**	0.44**	0.66**	0.09*	-	-
7. Effort	0.02	0.06	0.18**	0.07	-0.22	0.19**	-

Note: * *indicates* p < 0.05; ** *indicates* p < 0.01

Regression Analysis

Multiple linear regression was conducted to see if components of attitudes toward statistics (Affect, Cognitive competence, Value, Difficulty, Interest, and Effort) predicted the total value of the percentage of statistics used in psychologists' work. Only the participants who answered all questions of the SATS-36 were entered into the analysis (N=406). After controlling for the outliers, the total number of participants entered into the final regression analysis was 388. Overall, the results showed that attitude components explained a significant amount of the variance in the value of the percentage of use of statistics (F(6, 381) = 17.47, p $< .001, R^2 = .22$). However, only the *Affect* and *Value* components of attitudes significantly predicted the value of the percentage of use of statistics (Table 6). That is, as participants' scores on the value component were higher, so was the percentage of use of statistics (Table 6). This means that participants who had greater attitudes about the usefulness, relevance, and worth of statistics in personal and professional life were at the same time more likely to use it for a greater proportion of their working time. On the other hand, it has been shown that as participants' scores on the affect component were lower, their percentage of use of statistics was higher (Table 6). That is, participants who had more negative feelings concerning statistics were at the same time more likely to use it for a greater proportion of their working time. However, the standardized beta coefficient was much smaller for affect compared to the value component in the prediction of the percentage of use of statistics.

Table 6

Predictor	b	b [95% CI]	SE	beta	<i>beta</i> [95% CI]	t	р
(Intercept)	-21.80	[-36.02, -7.59]	7.23			-3.02	.003
Affect	-1.84	[-3.47,20]	.83	16	[30,02]	-2.20	.028
Cognitive competence	.75	[-1.60, 3.09]	1.19	.04	[08, .16]	.63	.531
Value	6.97	[5.00, 8.94]	1.01	.44	[.32, .56]	6.92	<.001
Difficulty	.74	[-1.26, 2.74]	1.02	.04	[07, .15]	.73	.467
Interest	1.03	[40, 2.46]	.73	.09	[03, .21]	1.42	.157
Effort	29	[-1.97, 1.38]	.85	02	[13, .09]	35	.729

Linear Regression Results Using the Percentage of Use of Statistics as the Criterion

Note: b represents unstandardized regression weights; beta indicates the standardized regression weights; CI represents confidence intervals; SE represents the standard error of the estimate; t represents the t-value; p represents the p-value

4. Discussion

This study sought to explore attitudes toward and use of statistics among practicing licensed psychologists in Croatia, providing a full picture of their utilization and recommendations for further improvement of statistical education in psychology. Additionally, it aimed to examine whether these attitudes predicted the use of statistics. Around 20% of the participants stated that they do not use statistics in their work, while others stated that they use it, on average, in 10% of their working time. The most frequently stated reasons for statistics utilization in psychologists' work were conference attendance and publications, sorting and processing the data needed for their work, and creating questionnaires and analyzing the obtained data. Furthermore, the participants' most frequent recommendations were incorporating practical applications and user-friendly software in teaching statistics to improve statistical education in the field. Lastly, the results of this study reveal that attitudes towards statistics significantly predicted the percentage of use of statistics. More specifically, value and affect components of attitudes were found to be significant predictors of the percentage of statistics used in psychologists' working time. It has been shown that those psychologists who placed a greater value on statistics, at the same time were more likely to use it in a greater proportion of their work. On the other hand, the analysis has shown that psychologists who held more negative feelings towards statistics, at the same time were more likely to use statistics more frequently in their work.

The two most frequently stated suggestions for the improvement of statistical education were incorporating practical applications and user-friendly software into teaching statistics. Although practicals exist in most psychology programs' syllabi, it is unclear how well they resemble the real-life problems psychologists may encounter in their work. Practical application, in that sense, means using statistics and teaching statistics in a way that corresponds to real-life situations in which students would need to implement statistics outside of the classroom. This may be achieved by having students conduct their research concerning the material presented during the class, making students combine logic and learning material to practically implement the knowledge obtained, ultimately providing them with needed skills they could use later. The incorporation of real-world applications in statistical education was also noted by Thibault et al. (2024). They emphasized the importance of active learning approaches, such as problem-based learning and collaborative projects, to engage students and improve their understanding of statistical concepts. Also, findings from research conducted by Counsell et al. (2016) suggest that integrating real-world applications and technology

significantly enhances students' attitudes and confidence toward learning statistics. Studies have also shown that students who engage in hands-on activities and practical applications tend to have better retention and understanding of the material compared to those who only engage in passive learning activities such as lectures (Prince, 2004). One prominent psychological theory that supports the idea that incorporating practical applications enhances the learning process is the Experiential Learning Theory, proposed by David Kolb (1984.). Kolb emphasizes that learning is most effective when learners have direct experience with the subject matter. Practical applications allow learners to engage actively with the material, making it more relevant and meaningful. The theory also suggests that applying what is learned in practical settings reinforces knowledge and aids in the retention and transfer of learning to new situations. However, the definition of practical application has not been stated in our study, and that remains an open question for future studies. Furthermore, the utilization of user-friendly software was found to be beneficial by numerous researchers (Counsell & Cribbie, 2020; Ditta & Woodward, 2022; TARG Meta-Research Group, 2022). By making statistical tools more accessible, interactive, and supportive, user-friendly software could greatly enhance the learning experience in statistics. It may help bridge the gap between theoretical knowledge and practical application, making the learning process more effective and engaging. Future studies could also investigate the impact of incorporating practical applications and user-friendly software alongside traditional calculations on students' understanding and retention of statistical concepts to gain insight into the efficiency of these techniques and the differences in the outcomes of the two teaching styles.

Additionally, the results of our regression analysis have shown that the value component of attitudes towards statistics significantly predicted the percentage of use of statistics in psychologists' work. More specifically, it has been shown that as the scores on the perceived value of statistics were higher, the use of statistics was more frequent. The relationship between the value and use of statistics means that psychologists who recognize and appreciate the importance and usefulness of statistics are at the same time more likely to use statistics more frequently in their work. On the other hand, it could also be that psychologists who use statistics more frequently are more likely to appreciate statistics value. Although the study design used here cannot give information about the cause and effect of that process, there are several potential explanations for why the relationship between value and frequency of use exists. The Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB), developed by Ajzen in 1985, strongly supports the idea that the value placed on something predicts engaging in the corresponding behavior. One of the key components of TPB is the attitude toward the behavior, which involves the individual's positive or negative evaluation of performing the behavior. This evaluation is closely tied to the values and beliefs the individual holds regarding the outcomes of the behavior. That is, if a person values the outcomes highly, they are more likely to have a positive attitude toward engaging in that behavior. For instance, research has demonstrated that students who place high value on academic success are more likely to engage in behaviors such as studying regularly and participating in class (Eccles & Wigfield, 2002). Their positive attitudes toward these behaviors, influenced by the value they place on educational outcomes, predicted their academic engagement and performance. On the other hand, our findings might also be explained through Cognitive Dissonance Theory (CDT), first proposed by Leon Festinger in 1957, which suggests that when there is an inconsistency between attitudes and behaviors, it creates psychological discomfort (Festinger, 1962). In that sense, CDT explains that psychologists who place a high value on statistics are motivated to use statistical methods more frequently in their work to reduce the psychological discomfort caused by any inconsistency between their values and behaviors. From the CDT perspective, psychologists who need to do statistics more frequently in their work adjust in a way that consequently places a greater value on statistics. This motivation leads to increased engagement with statistical methods, or increased value perception of statistics, aligning their practices with their professional and personal values. Further studies should explore this relationship using a combination of quantitative and qualitative methods, qualitatively assessing psychologists' opinions and experiences with statistics in their work and quantitatively measuring the amount of time spent doing statistics. Based on these findings, it could be potentially beneficial for instructors to stress the importance of statistics in all areas of psychology for students to understand the advantages they gain by possessing adequate statistical knowledge for their future careers. Additionally, promoting a positive perception of the value of statistics could potentially encourage its use within the psychological profession. Furthermore, future studies should implement the aspect of the quality of lecturers in statistics courses and understanding of the content in statistical courses, as these aspects might be important measures for this topic (Verhoeven, 2009).

The regression analysis results also showed that the affect component of attitudes significantly predicted the use of statistics. More specifically, it has been shown that as the scores on the affect component of attitudes towards statistics were lower, the use of statistics was more frequent. The relationship between the affect and use of statistics means that psychologists who hold more negative feelings towards statistics are at the same time more likely to use statistics more frequently in their work. On the other hand, it could also be that

psychologists who use statistics more frequently are more likely to develop negative feelings towards it. This finding is quite unusual, not following the theoretical background for the relationship between the affect towards a concept and behavior related to it. For example, it goes contrary to the previously mentioned TPB, which explains that when someone has positive feelings towards a behavior, they are more likely to engage in that behavior. Nevertheless, the found relationship could be described as a form of compensation. Despite negative feelings, psychologists might engage more with tasks related to statistics due to external pressures such as job requirements or academic necessities. On the other hand, it could be that as psychologists are more exposed to statistics and need to perform it more frequently as a part of their job requirements (not their desires), they might develop more negative feelings towards it. Additionally, job demands linked to statistics use usually require advanced technology use and more frequent computer use, which have previously been linked to higher levels of burnout (Kaltenegger et al., 2023), and more negative feelings towards such work (Huang et al., 2015). Future studies could investigate the relationship between burnout and the amount of statistics required from the psychologist to do in their work. These findings could further aid the development of needed intervention strategies to reduce these negative feelings related to statistics in the profession. However, even though the prediction was found to be significant, the beta coefficient of the predictor was rather small (β =-0.16), which has previously been deemed as negligible (Nieminen, 2022). Future studies could further investigate the robustness of the prediction. Identifying whether the prediction is relevant or not could help further develop the theoretical background of the relationship, helping us understand why it exists and how to manage it.

Furthermore, our findings show that, besides theory, most of the time in psychological statistical education is dedicated to hand calculations, and the least amount of time is dedicated to computer use. Conversely, the least number of participants stated that hand calculations were the most important part of statistical education. As noted in the introduction, it has been shown that emphasizing less on hand calculations (and more on software use) could benefit students' learning statistics (Ditta & Woodward, 2022; Pirlot & Hines, 2023). Since there has been a rise recently in the advancement of various statistical software and Artificial Intelligence (AI) tools, this shift might be beneficial considering that these provide students with the automatization of calculations, making calculations easier for them and reducing the need to perform these calculations manually. This allows students to focus more on understanding concepts and interpreting results rather than focusing on computational details. Furthermore, contrary to existing literature that mostly focused on student attitudes (Counsell & Cribbie, 2020;

Dempster & McCorry, 2009; Judi et al., 2011; Landa-Blanco & Cortés-Ramos, 2021; Ramirez et al., 2012), this study extends its view to encompass practicing psychologists, thereby giving insight to the crucial knowledge gap. Our results indicate that psychologists scored the highest among attitude components in terms of cognitive competence and effort, which implies that they think they possess the necessary skills and have made a lot of effort to acquire those skills. On the other hand, the lowest scores were on the difficulty component, meaning that they perceive statistics to be a complex subject to learn. This reflects on the state of statistical education in psychology courses in Croatia, showing that it requires great effort to obtain the needed skills consequently making professionals feel competent to apply those skills later in their work. However, the difficulty of the learning material being perceived as demanding might be due to the statistics course requirements in Croatia. As mentioned previously, the greatest emphasis is placed on theory and hand calculations. This emphasis might contribute to the perceived difficulty of statistics because it involves complex, abstract concepts that are not immediately applicable to practical scenarios. Shifting the focus towards practical application and the use of statistical software could mitigate this by making learning more interactive and relevant, thereby reducing the perceived difficulty and overall negative attitudes towards the course. Future studies could examine how the shift from hand calculations to software use impacts students' comprehension, retention of statistical concepts, engagement, and attitudes toward the course. Additionally, research should assess the effectiveness of instructor training programs in statistical software proficiency and their role in enhancing student learning outcomes.

This study has found that psychologists often use statistics to write research papers and to process and analyze data. The results show that psychologists use statistics for approximately 10% of their working time. Additionally, our results show that around 20% of surveyed psychologists do not use statistics in their work. Since statistics and methodology courses take up to one-third of undergraduate mandatory psychological education in Croatia, it is unknown why there is such an emphasis on statistics in psychological curricula if psychologists rarely use it in their work. Statistical knowledge should be used as an aid for following evidencebased practices and keeping up with relevant research trends. Conducting and reading studies is one of the main advantages of proper statistical knowledge. If psychologists do not use statistics as often, it is questionable whether they follow research trends and read scientific literature. Future studies might examine how improved statistical literacy impacts psychologists' ability to engage with and contribute to current research, and the association between statistical proficiency and the frequency of reading and understanding scientific literature. In our sample, most psychologists report knowledge about statistical utilization, which corresponds to the findings of a study done by Badenes-Ribera et al. (2018), which found that psychologists claim that they have the needed statistical knowledge. On the other hand, their study focused solely on psychologists' knowledge of statistics, without assessing their attitudes towards statistics or patterns of statistics use. Since the findings show that the professionals perceive themselves to be equipped with the needed skills to do statistics, it is unknown why don't they use them in their work. Analyzing the necessity of statistical skills for different areas of psychological practice could be a valuable insight into this topic. Future research could determine if there are specific psychology fields where statistical skills are critical and tailor recommendations accordingly.

This study has several limitations which need to be acknowledged. First, the scale used to measure attitudes towards statistics was initially made for testing students' attitudes towards statistics, and to use it for our sample, we needed to modify it. To do so, we both translated the scale and made it more applicable to our target population. Items were modified in terms of temporal orientation (e.g. "Statistical skills will make me more employable" to "Statistical skills made me more employable") while making sure that we do not change the meaning of the question. However, our reliability scores were similar to those of the previous studies that utilized this scale (Ayebo et al., 2019; Schau et al., 1995; Zhang et al., 2012). Furthermore, the study was conducted entirely online, which limits the interpretation of respondents' identities and whether some of them could complete the questionnaire more than once. Although it may be a general limitation, we minimized this threat by sending emails specifically to licensed psychologists, ensuring we do not reach any other population. Another potential limitation is related to the sample structure. The results have shown that the average of our samples' statistics GPA was 4.0, which is higher than the expected average for the population. This might lead to the overestimation of competence for the general population which might impact the generalizability of the findings. Additionally, the sample contained a few participants who did not finish their degree in Croatia. Regardless, they were included in the analysis, since they are psychologists who work in Croatia and therefore fit the eligibility criteria. Also, they either have a curriculum equivalent to the Croatian one or have had to complete additional coursework to match the Croatian curriculum, therefore, they have the same education as those who finished their degree in Croatia and are not to be excluded.

Furthermore, with the study design being cross-sectional, we are unable to conclude the cause and effect regarding attitudes and the use of statistics. That is, we are unable to determine whether attitudes directly influence the use of statistics, or whether other variables influence

this connection, such as self-efficacy and the work environment across different psychological domains. Lastly, the questionnaire was rather large, being composed of a total of 60 questions, which might have induced respondent fatigue and impacted the results. On the other hand, our research was large, with a high response rate (around 31%) and a wide range of data obtained. The study had a comprehensive approach that obtained both quantitative and qualitative data from the sample. Considering their demographic characteristics; participants were predominately female, school, and clinical psychologists, and finished their studies in Croatia. These demographics match the target population, and we collected a sufficient percentage of the population (around 15%). Therefore, to our knowledge, our study is the largest ever conducted on Croatian psychologists. Furthermore, the scale we used gave us a comprehensive examination of statistical attitudes, measuring six different components of attitudes rather than one general measure. Overall, the findings of our study may be used as a cornerstone for making changes in the teaching of statistics in psychology programs.

To conclude, our results underline the need for reform in statistical education within psychology programs, advocating for a curriculum that does not only rely on foundational statistical knowledge but also emphasizes the practical skills relevant to professional practice, as well as the instructors' role in shaping students' attitudes towards the course. Despite the emphasis that is placed on statistics and methodology courses, our results indicate a gap between theoretical understanding and practical application in the field. Practicing psychologists reported using statistics for only a small fraction of their working time, primarily for conference attendance, publications, and data processing. This infrequent use suggests that current educational methods may not emphasize the relevance of statistics to real-life situations for professional contexts. Therefore, examples from actual practice, user-friendly software, and applied activities representing typical challenges that psychologists encounter in their everyday work should be included in curricula. Through statistical education which includes these elements, students could gain more insight and respect for statistics thereby improving their competence and confidence in using statistics. Furthermore, shifting the focus from manual calculations to automated tools and computer programs can allow students to put more emphasis on efficiently interpreting and utilizing statistical data. Nevertheless, as much as this approach is consistent with the growing significance of data-driven decision-making in psychology, it also equips future psychologists with the necessary skills to become more actively involved in research and evidence-based practices, ultimately making their learning experiences directly applicable to their professional careers.

5. Conclusion

This study highlighted a need for reform in statistical education within psychology programs. Despite extensive training, psychologists in Croatia rarely use statistics in their professional work, highlighting the importance of incorporating statistical educational practices that are more linked with the actual work of psychologists. The principal suggested improvements were implementing practical applications and user-friendly software. Additionally, our findings show that higher scores on the value and lower scores on the affect component of attitudes towards statistics were associated with a greater percentage of working time dedicated to statistics use.

6. Abstract

This cross-sectional study investigated the patterns of use and attitudes towards statistics in the everyday work of licensed psychologists in Croatia and gathered their suggestions for improving statistics education in the field. This study aimed to examine if components of attitudes towards statistics predicted the use of statistics in psychologists' work, as well as their suggestions for the improvement of statistical education within psychology programs. It hypothesized that practicing psychologists' use of statistics will be predicted by their attitudes towards statistics and that they will suggest that practical application and userfriendly software would be beneficial for today's psychology students. An online survey was carried out from January to March of 2024. Participants were eligible if they had graduated in psychology, were members of the Croatian Psychological Chamber, and were working in any field of psychology. Invitations were sent using purposive and snowball sampling methods, targeting publicly available email addresses of psychological societies and associations, as well as social media groups that gather psychologists. Additionally, we went through the directory of all licensed psychologists in Croatia (N=3733), collected the publicly available email addresses, and sent the survey invitation to increase the response rate. We collected a wide range of data, and the variables collected could be divided into four categories: demographics, use and knowledge of statistics, recommendations and study experience, and attitudes toward statistics. To analyze the data obtained, we used descriptive statistics and multiple linear regression. We managed to collect a sample of 602 participants, out of which 17 were excluded and 406 completed the whole survey. Psychologists reported using statistics in 10% of their working time, mainly for research papers and data processing while 20% did not use statistics at all. The principal suggested improvements were implementing practical applications and user-friendly software. Additionally, our findings show that a greater perceived value of statistics, and more negative feelings towards statistics were associated with a greater percentage of working time dedicated to statistics use. Despite extensive training, psychologists in Croatia rarely use statistics in their professional work, highlighting the importance of incorporating statistical educational practices that are more linked with the actual work of psychologists. This study, the first to explore the views of Croatian graduated psychologists on the use of statistics in everyday work, provides insights that can inform the design of educational interventions in psychology programs, potentially leading to better alignment between education and professional practice in the psychological field.

7. References

- Aiken, L. S., West, S. G., & Millsap, R. E. (2008). Doctoral training in statistics, Measurement, and methodology in psychology: Replication and extension of Aiken, West, Sechrest, and Reno's (1990) survey of PhD programs in North America. *American Psychologist*, 63(1), 32–50. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.63.1.32
- Aiken, L. S., West, S. G., & Millsap, R. E. (2009). Improving training in methodology enriches the science of psychology. *American Psychologist*, 64(1), 51–52. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014161
- Aiken, L. S., West, S. G., Sechrest, L., Reno, R. R., & et al. (1990). Graduate training in statistics, methodology, and measurement in psychology: A survey of PhD programs in North America. *American Psychologist*, 45(6), 721–734. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.45.6.721
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The Theory of Planned Behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179-211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Anderson, N. D. (2016). A call for computational thinking in undergraduate psychology. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, 15(3), 226–234. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475725716659252
- Anglin, S. M., & Edlund, J. E. (2019). Perceived need for reform in field-wide methods and the teaching of replication, interpretation, and transparency. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, 19(1), 60–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475725719859453

Aronson, E., Wilson, T. D., & Sommers, S. R. (2022). Social Psychology (11th ed.). Pearson.

Ayebo, A., Bright, J., & Ballam, C. (2019). Examining the factor structure of the survey of attitudes towards statistics among undergraduate health science students. *International Electronic Journal of Mathematics Education*,15(1). https://doi.org/10.29333/iejme/5942

- Badenes-Ribera, L., Frias-Navarro, D., Iotti, B., Bonilla-Campos, A., & Longobardi, C. (2016). Misconceptions of the P-value among Chilean and Italian academic psychologists. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01247
- Badenes-Ribera, L., Frias-Navarro, D., Pascual-Soler, M., and Monterde-i-Bort, H. (2016).
 Level of knowledge of the effect size statistics, confidence interval, and meta-analysis in
 Spanish academic psychologists. *Psicothema* 26, 448–456.
 https://doi.org/10.7334/psicothema2016.24
- Badenes-Ribera, L., Frias-Navarro, D., Iotti, N. O., Bonilla-Campos, A., & Longobardi, C. (2018). Perceived statistical knowledge level and self-reported statistical practice among academic psychologists. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00996
- Bebermeier, S., Austerschmidt, K. L., & Nussbeck, F. W. (2021). Determinants of psychology students' study satisfaction. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, 21(1), 19–36. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475725720985223
- Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine, University of Oxford. How do you calculate a standard error of a beta coefficient? http://www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/data-extraction-tips-meta-analysis/calculate-standard-error-beta-coefficient. Accessed 15 April 2024.
- Chance, B., Ben-Zvi, D., Garfield, J., & Medina, E. (2007). The role of technology in improving student learning of statistics. *Technology Innovations in Statistics Education*, *1*(1). https://doi.org/10.5070/t511000026
- Coetzee, S., & Van der Merwe, P. (2010). Industrial psychology students' attitudes towards statistics. *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology*, *36*(1). https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v36i1.843
- Conners, F. A., McCown, S. M., & Roskos-Ewoldsen, B. (1998). Unique challenges in teaching undergraduate statistics. *Teaching of Psychology*, 25(1), 40–42. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15328023top2501_12

- Counsell, A., & Cribbie, R. A. (2020). Students' attitudes toward learning statistics with R. *Psychology Teaching Review*, 26(2), 36–56. https://doi.org/10.53841/bpsptr.2020.26.2.36
- Counsell, A., Cribbie, R. A., & Harlow, Lisa. L. (2016). Increasing literacy in quantitative methods: The key to the future of Canadian Psychology. *Canadian Psychology / Psychologie Canadienne*, 57(3), 193–201. https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000056
- Dempster, M., & McCorry, N. K. (2009). The role of previous experience and attitudes toward statistics in Statistics Assessment Outcomes Among Undergraduate Psychology Students. Journal of Statistics Education, 17(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/10691898.2009.11889515
- Ditta, A. S., & Woodward, A. M. (2022). Technology or tradition? A comparison of students' statistical reasoning after being taught with R programming versus hand calculations. Scholarship of Teaching and Learning in Psychology. https://doi.org/10.1037/stl0000327
- Durbin, J., & Watson, G. S. (1950). Testing for serial correlation in least squares regression: I. *Biometrika*, 37(3/4), 409. https://doi.org/10.2307/2332391
- Duan, C., & Lee, T. K. (2022). Educational use of free and open source software (FOSS): International development and its implications for higher education. *Interactive Technology and Smart Education*, 19(1), 39-57. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-11-2020-0223
- Eagly, A. H., & Chaiken, S. (1993). *The Psychology of Attitudes*. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich College Publishers.
- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (2002). Motivational beliefs, values, and goals. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *53*(1), 109–132. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135153
- Fantinelli, S., Cortini, M., Di Fiore, T., Iervese, S., & Galanti, T. (2024). Bridging the gap between theoretical learning and practical application: A qualitative study in the Italian educational context. *Education Sciences*, 14(2), 198. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci14020198

- Festinger, Leon. (1962). Cognitive dissonance. *Scientific American*, 207(4), 93–106. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican1062-93
- Freng, S., Webber, D., Blatter, J., Wing, A., & Scott, W. D. (2011). The role of Statistics and Research Methods in the academic success of psychology majors. *Teaching of Psychology*, 38(2), 83–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/0098628311401591
- Glasman, L. R., & Albarracín, D. (2006). Forming attitudes that predict future behavior: A meta-analysis of the attitude-behavior relation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 132(5), 778–822. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.132.5.778
- Green, H. J., Hood, M., & Neumann, D. L. (2015). Predictors of student satisfaction with University Psychology Courses: A Review. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, 14(2), 131–146. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475725715590959
- Hannigan, A., Hegarty, A. C., & McGrath, D. (2014). Attitudes towards statistics of Graduate Entry Medical Students: The Role of Prior Learning Experiences. *BMC Medical Education*, 14(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6920-14-70
- Helman, S., & Horswill, M. S. (2002). Does the introduction of non-traditional teaching techniques improve psychology undergraduates' performance in statistics? *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, 2(1), 12–16. https://doi.org/10.2304/plat.2002.2.1.12
- Hixenbaugh, P., Dewart, H., Drees, D., & Williams, D. (2006). Peer E-mentoring: Enhancement of the First Year Experience. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, 5(1), 8– 14. https://doi.org/10.2304/plat.2005.5.1.8
- Hogg, R. V. (1991). Statistical education: Improvements are badly needed. *The American Statistician*, 45(4), 342. https://doi.org/10.2307/2684473
- Huang, J., Wang, Y., & You, X. (2015). The job demands-resources model and job burnout: The mediating role of personal resources. *Current Psychology*, 35(4), 562–569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-015-9321-2

- Hutter, R. I., Oldenhof-Veldman, T., Pijpers, J. R., & Oudejans, R. R. D. (2016). Professional development in sport psychology: Relating learning experiences to learning outcomes. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 29(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/10413200.2016.1183152
- Judi, H. M., Ashaari, N. S., Mohamed, H., & Wook, T. M. (2011). Students' profile based on attitude towards statistics. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 18, 266–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.05.038
- Kaltenegger, H. C., Becker, L., Rohleder, N., Nowak, D., Quartucci, C., & Weigl, M. (2023).
 Associations of technostressors at work with burnout symptoms and chronic low-grade inflammation: A cross-sectional analysis in hospital employees. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 96(6), 839–856. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-023-01967-8
- Kleinbaum, D. G., Kupper, L. L., & Muller, K. E. (1988). *Applied regression analysis and other multivariable methods* (2nd ed.). PWS-Kent.
- Kolb, D. A. (1984). *Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development*. Prentice-Hall.
- Landa-Blanco, M., & Cortés-Ramos, A. (2021). Psychology students' attitudes towards research: The role of critical thinking, epistemic orientation, and satisfaction with research courses. *Heliyon*, 7(12). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e08504
- Lloyd, S. A., & Robertson, C. L. (2011). Screencast tutorials enhance student learning of statistics. *Teaching of Psychology*, *39*(1), 67–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/0098628311430640
- Lloyd-Lewis, B. L., Miller, D. J., & Krause, A. E. (2023). Against all odds: Students' interest in, and perceived value of, research and nonresearch psychology subjects. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, 23(1), 65–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/14757257231222647
- Murtonen, M., Olkinuora, E., Tynjälä, P. & Lehtinen, E. (2008). 'Do I need research skills in working life?' University students' motivation and difficulties in quantitative methods courses. *Higher Education*, 56, 599–612. doi:10.1007/s10734-008-9113-9

- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. E. (1981). The measurement of experienced burnout. Journal of Organizational Behavior, 2(2), 99–113. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030020205
- Nieminen, P. (2022). Application of sta ndardized regression coefficient in meta-analysis. *BioMedInformatics*, 2(3), 434–458. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedinformatics2030028
- Nuttgens, S. (2023). Making psychology "count": On the mathematization of psychology. *Europe's Journal of Psychology*, 19(1), 100–112. https://doi.org/10.5964/ejop.4065
- Papageorgi, I., Falzon, N., Sokolova, L., Stuchlikova, I., Salvatore, S., Williamson, M., Foster, J., Pavlin-Bernardic, N., Beara, M., Bakker, H., & Dutke, S. (2023). Skills and competencies gained from a psychology bachelor's degree: European graduates' perspectives. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, 23(1), 43–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/14757257231187532
- Pecsi, S., & Shaw, S. (2021). Are We Preparing School Psychologists for Evidence-Based Practices? Considering Research Methods Curricula. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/z42dw
- Pirlott, A. G., & Hines, J. C. (2023). Eliminating ANOVA hand calculations predicts improved mastery in an undergraduate statistics course. *Teaching of Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1177/00986283231183959
- Prince, M. (2004). Does Active Learning Work? A Review of the Research. Journal of Engineering Education, 93(3), 223-231. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2168-9830.2004.tb00809.x
- Provost, S. C., Martin, F. H., Peacock, A., Lipp, O. V., Bath, D., & Hannan, G. (2011). University students' views on the nature of science and psychology. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, 10(2), 128–145. https://doi.org/10.2304/plat.2011.10.2.128
- Rajecki, D. W., Appleby, D., Williams, C. C., Johnson, K., & Jeschke, M. P. (2005). Statistics can wait: Career plans activity and course preferences of American Psychology undergraduates. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, 4(2), 83–89. https://doi.org/10.2304/plat.2004.4.2.83

- Ramirez, C., Schau, C., & Emmioglu, E. (2012). The importance of attitudes in Statistics Education. STATISTICS EDUCATION RESEARCH JOURNAL, 11(2), 57–71. https://doi.org/10.52041/serj.v11i2.329
- Robertson, I., Teoh, K., McMurray, I., Roberts, P., & Sochos, A. (2011). Research-informed learning in the psychology curriculum: An initial evaluation. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, 10(2), 84–94. https://doi.org/10.2304/plat.2011.10.2.84
- Ruggeri, K., Dempster, M., Hanna, D., & Cleary, C. (2008). Experiences and Expectations: The Real Reason Nobody Likes Stats. *Psychology Teaching Review*, 14(2), 75–83. https://doi.org/10.53841/bpsptr.2008.14.2.75
- Schau, C. (2003). Survey of Attitude towards Statistics 36. Available from CS Consultants, LLC, www.evaluationandstatistics.com.
- Schau, C., Miller, M. P., & Petocz, P. (2003). The survey of attitudes towards statistics (SATS-36): A user's guide. *Retrieved from http://evaluationandstatistics.com*
- Schau, C., Stevens, J., Dauphinee, T. L., & Vecchio, A. D. (1995). The development and validation of the survey of attitudes toward statistics. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 55(5), 868–875. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164495055005022
- Schutz, P. A., Drogosz, L. M., White, V. E., & Distefano, C. (1998). Prior knowledge, attitude, and strategy use in an introduction to statistics course. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 10(4), 291–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1041-6080(99)80124-1
- Silverstein, P., Pennington, C. R., Branney, P., O'Connor, D. B., Lawlor, E., O'Brien, E., & Lynott, D. (2023). A Registered Report Survey of Open Research Practices in Psychology Departments in the UK and Ireland. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/b5m6q
- Stigler, S. M. (1992). A historical view of statistical concepts in psychology and educational research. *American Journal of Education*, *101*(1), 60–70. https://doi.org/10.1086/444032
- TARG Meta-Research Group. (2022). Statistics education in undergraduate psychology: A survey of UK curricula. Collabra: Psychology, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1525/collabra.38037

- Thibault, R. T., Bailey-Rodriguez, D., Bartlett, J. E., Blazey, P., Green, R. J., Pownall, M., & Munafò, M. R. (2024). A Delphi Study to strengthen research-methods training in undergraduate psychology programs. *Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/25152459231213808
- Vanhoof, S., Kuppens, S., Castro Sotos, A. E., Verschaffel, L., & Onghena, P. (2011).
 Measuring statistics attitudes: Structure of the survey of Attitudes Toward Statistics (SATS-36). *Statistics Education Research Journal*, 10(1), 35–51. https://doi.org/10.52041/serj.v10i1.354
- Verhoeven, P. (2009). Quality in statistics education : Determinants of course outcomes in methods & statistics education at universities and colleges. (Doctoral dissertation) http://dspace.library.uu.nl/bitstream/1874/32770/2/verhoeven.pdf
- Zhang, Y., Shang, L., Wang, R., Zhao, Q., Li, C., Xu, Y., & Su, H. (2012). Attitudes toward statistics in medical postgraduates: Measuring, evaluating and monitoring. *BMC Medical Education*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6920-12-117

Supplement

Table A

Factor	No	Description	M [95%CI]
Affect	3	I like statistics.	4.39 [4.22, 4.55
	4*	I feel insecure when I must do statistics problems	3.77 [3.60, 3.95
	15*	I would get frustrated going over statistics tests in class.	3.62 [3.45, 3.80
	18*	I would be stressed during statistics class.	3.80 [3.61, 3.99
	19	I enjoyed taking statistics courses.	3.57 [3.40, 3.74
	28*	I am scared by statistics.	2.70 [2.54, 2.86
Subscale score			4.34 [4.21, 4.48
Cognitive competence	5*	I have trouble understanding statistics because of how I think.	2.38 [2.23, 2.52
	11*	I had no idea what was going on in the statistics course.	1.80 [1.68, 1.92
	26*	I make a lot of math errors in statistics.	2.58 [2.46, 2.71
	31	I can learn statistics.	6.16 [6.06, 6.25
	32	I understand statistics equations.	4.63 [4.50, 4.76
	35*	I find it difficult to understand statistical concepts.	2.84 [2.70, 2.99
Subscale score			5.53 [5.44, 5.62
Value	7*	Statistics is worthless.	1.38 [1.30, 1.46
	9	Statistics should be a required part of my professional training.	4.98 [4.82, 5.14
	10	Statistical skills made me more employable.	3.02 [2.82, 3.21
	13*	Statistics is not useful to the typical professional.	2.29 [2.16, 2.43
	16*	Statistical thinking is not applicable in my life outside my job.	2.54 [2.39, 2.69
	17	I use statistics in my everyday life.	3.84 [3.67, 4.01
	21*	Statistics conclusions are rarely presented in everyday life.	2.86 [2.71, 3.01
	25*	I had no application for statistics in my profession.	2.49 [2.32, 2.67
	33*	Statistics is irrelevant in my life.	2.71 [2.55, 2.86
Subscale score			5.06 [4.97, 5.16
Difficulty	6	Statistics formulas are easy to understand.	3.73 [3.59, 3.87
	8*	Statistics is a complicated subject.	4.08 [3.92, 4.24
	22	Statistics is a subject quickly learned by most people.	2.57 [2.46, 2.69
	24*	Learning statistics requires a great deal of discipline.	4.76 [4.62, 4.90
	30*	Statistics involves massive computations.	3.49 [3.35, 3.64
	34*	Statistics is highly technical.	3.96 [3.82, 4.10
	36*	Most people must learn a new way of thinking to do statistics.	4.06 [3.91, 4.21
Subscale score			3.71 [3.63, 3.79
Interest	12	I am interested in being able to communicate statistical information to others.	3.97 [3.78, 4.15
	20	I am interested in using statistics.	5.04 [4.89, 5.20
	23	I am interested in understanding statistical information.	5.34 [5.20, 5.48
	29	I am interested in learning statistics.	4.52 [4.34, 4.69
Subscale score			4.72 [4.58, 4.86
Effort	1	I tried to complete all my statistics assignments.	5.93 [5.82, 6.04
	2	I worked hard in my statistics courses.	5.50 [5.36, 5.63
	14	I tried to study hard for every statistics test.	5.83 [5.70, 5.95
	27	I tried to attend every statistics class session.	6.26 [6.15, 6.36
Subscale score			5.88 [5.79, 5.97

Figure A



Flowchart of Participants in the Study

Figure **B**



Q-Q Plot of Standardized Residuals

Izjava o pohrani i objavi ocjenskog rada (završnog/diplomskog/specijalističkog/doktorskog rada - podcrtajte odgovarajuće)

Student/ica:	NIKA VUCO
Naslov rada:	PATTERNS OF USE AND ATTITUDES
	TOWARDS STATISTICS IN PSYCHOLOGICAL PROFESTION
Znanstveno područje i polje:	SOCIAL SCIENCES - PSYCHOLDGY
Vrsta rada:	FINAL THESIS
Mentor/ica rada (ime i prezin IVAN BULSAN , do	e, akad. stupanj i zvanje):
Komentor/ica rada (ime i pres	zime, akad. stupanj i zvanje):

Članovi povjerenstva (ime i prezime, akad. stupanj i zvanje):

DARIO HREN, DV. Prof. dr. Sc. PEHAD mag. LANA

Ovom iziavom potvrđujem autor/autorica da sam predanog ocienskog rada (završnog/diplomskog/specijalističkog/doktorskog rada - zaokružite odgovarajuće) i da sadržaj njegove elektroničke inačice u potpunosti odgovara sadržaju obranjenog i nakon obrane uređenog rada.

Kao autor izjavljujem da se slažem da se moj ocjenski rad, bez naknade, trajno javno objavi u otvorenom pristupu u Digitalnom repozitoriju Filozofskoga fakulteta Sveučilišta u Splitu i repozitoriju Nacionalne i sveučilišne knjižnice u Zagrebu (u skladu s odredbama Zakona o visokom obrazovanju i znanstvenoj djelatnosti (NN br. 119/22).

Split, 11.7.2024.

Potpis studenta/studentice:

Napomena:

U slučaju potrebe ograničavanja pristupa ocjenskom radu sukladno odredbama Zakona o autorskom pravu i srodnim pravima (111/21), podnosi se obrazloženi zahtjev dekanici Filozofskog fakulteta u Splitu.

Obrazac A.Č.

SVEUČILIŠTE U SPLITU FILOZOFSKI FAKULTET

IZJAVA O AKADEMSKOJ ČESTITOSTI

kojom ja <u>NIWA</u> VOCO, kao pristupnik/pristupnica za stjecanje zvanja sveučilišnog/e prvostupnika/ce **PSIHo6061)**, izjavljujem da je ovaj završni rad rezultat isključivo mojega vlastitoga rada, da se temelji na mojim istraživanjima i oslanja na objavljenu literaturu kao što to pokazuju korištene bilješke i bibliografija. Izjavljujem da niti jedan dio završnog rada nije napisan na nedopušten način, odnosno da nije prepisan iz necitiranoga rada, pa tako ne krši ničija autorska prava. Također izjavljujem da nijedan dio ovoga završnog rada nije iskorišten za koji drugi rad pri bilo kojoj drugoj visokoškolskoj, znanstvenoj ili radnoj ustanovi.

Split, 11.7.2024.

Potpis Alibertua